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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO
Chief Judge Marcia S. Krieger
Civil Action No. 15-cv-01828-MSK-MJW
COPPER OAKS MASTER HOME OWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Colorado corporation,
Plaintiff,
V.

AMERICAN FAMILY MUTUAL INSU RANCE COMPANY, a corporation,

Defendant.

OPINION AND ORDER VACATING APPRAISAL AWARD

THIS MATTER comes before the Court on Defendant American Family Mutual
Insurance Company’s (“American Family”) Raved Motion to Vacate Appraisal Award. The
Court has considered the past briefing on that issugt{19and#120" as well as the evidence
and argument presented at an evidentiary heariihg. Court finds andoncludes as set forth
below.

l. JURISDICTION

The Court generally exercises jurisdictjpmrsuant to 28 U.S.C. §1332. Although the
Court has unresolved concerimat its subject matter jurisdiction for some claims in this case,
it addresses the pending motion exercising its imtigrewers to enforce orders of the couee

Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Summit Park Townhome A88® F.3d 863, 867-68 (10th Cir. 2018)

1 such numerical references are to estiethe official docket in this matter.
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I. ISSUE PRESENTED

Copper Oaks Master Home Owners Assaamaf‘Copper Oaks”) is the manager of
sixteen residential buildings and a pool housated in Lakewood, Colorado. It was the insured
on a casualty insurance policy issusdAmerican Family (the “Policy”). As discussed in more
detail herein, a salient feature of the Policy estbquirement that, when the value of a claim is
disputed, the parties must engage in an “applaprocess to quantifhe value of the loss.

Copper Oaks alleges that in September 2013, a hail storm caused significant damage to
the property, and it made a claim upon AmeriEamily for coverage under the Policy.
Ultimately unhappy with the amount that Ameridaamily initially paid on the claim, Copper
Oaks filed suit in state court. American Fanrdynoved the case to this Court. The Amended
Complaint in this action states four claims:aljequest for declaratory judgment as to the
appraisal process and award; 2) a requesbtgpel an appraisal award in accordance with
process specified in the Polic3) breach of contract in faig to pay the amounts owed under
the Policy; and 4) unreasonable delay in pagtin violation ofC.R.S. 10-3-1115 and 1116
(#96).

Early in the case Copper Oaks requestad,the Magistrate Judgedered, that the
parties participate in the appraisal processiipddy the Policy. That process requires each
party to appoint a “competent amdpartial” appraiser. The two appraisers then jointly select a
neutral umpire. Each appraiser submits an opiais to the amount ofdHoss to the umpire.
Upon the agreement of the umpire and at least one of the appraisensiahint of the loss is
conclusively determined.

The appraisal process occuriadhis case throughout most 2016, but in January 2017,

the parties announced that they had a dispuge the validity othe appraisal awardi43).



Thereafter, Copper Oaks filed a motion for Partial Summary Judg#t?) §eeking to enforce
the appraisal award. American Family respahdéh a Motion to Vacate Appraisal Award
(#80).

Upon review of the record, the Court becasnacerned about the sufficiency of Copper
Oaks’ standing to bring the firdtree claims. The Court issued an Order to Show Cause as to
why those claims should not be dismis§#8P). At a hearing on the issues, and after
consideration of the parties’ arguments, both oral and written,abd:@) bifurcated claims in
the Complaint into two groups — claims the cemed the appraisal pexs (Claims 1 and 2),
and claims that concerned breacltoitract and statutory bad faltheach of contract (Claims 3
and 4)(#94). After denying the parties’ respectidispositive motions, the Court set the matter
for a Pretrial Conferendg111, 118.

At the conference, the partiagreed that there was a digpas to whether the appraisal
award was valid. American Family orallynewved its Motion to Vacate the Appraisal Award,
which essentially sought judgment on Copper Oakst &ind second claims for relief. American
Family contended that the appraisal award shbalthvalidated because the appraiser selected
by Copper Oaks, Mr. George Keys, and the umpife, Robert Norton, were not impatrtial.
Copper Oaks responded that American Familydijved any objection to Mr. Keys and Mr.
Norton, ii) is estopped from challenging them nawnd iii) its request ibarred by the doctrine
of laches.

Upon consent of the parties, the sufficienfyhe appraisal was tried in a multi-day
bench trial. At the close of the trial, the Coamnounced its intent grant American Family’s
Motion to Vacate the Appraisal Award, statingttl written opinion would be issued. This

opinion follows.



[ll. FINDINGS OF FACT

Having considered the stipulations of fatie evidence presented, both documentary and
by testimony, and having observed the witness®esiner in testifying, eollection, consistency
and all other matters in assegpthe credibility of such tastony, the Court finds as follows.

Background

1. Copper Oaks is a 30 year-old comiimum, townhome and apartment complex
located in Lakewood, Colorado. It is comprised of 16 multi-family buildings and a pool house.
Copper Oaks has a homeowner’s association administered by adB@arelctors (“the Board”).
For most of the time pertinent to this case, Board retained 4 Seasons Management & Realty
Group (“4 Seasons”) to manage the propertfsedsons assigned this responsibility to Mark
Richardson.

2. On September 9, 2013, Copper Oaks wasuty an afternoon thunderstorm. The
parties disagree as to whether the complex wdsytail during the stormna if so, the size of
the hail.

3. At the time of the storm, Copper Oaks was insured under the Policy issued by
American Family.

4. Immediately following the storm, Mriéhardson saw leaves and debris scattered
about the complex. He contad Derek O’ Driscoll of Impact Claim Services, LLC, requesting
that Mr. O'Driscoll conduct a free inspectiontbg building roofs. At the Board meeting in
November 2013, Mr. O’Driscoll discussed higfiag evaluations and offered to represent
Copper Oaks as public adjuster on its@ptted claim to American Family.

5. In December 2013, a report commissioned by Mr. Richardson showed that Copper

Oaks was severely undercapitalized given the size, age and condition of the complex. The



homeowners association haserves of only $70,112, which was 11% of that recommended
($625,597) in order to address extensive needsuididing maintenance and repair. The report
advised the association to impose a speciabassnt of $1,500 per unit in order to maintain
necessary reserves. There is nol@vce that the association did so.

6. In March 2014, the Board hired Mr.@iscoll and his company, Impact Claims,

LLC, as its public adjuster for the purposesmestigating and processing a claim for hail
damage. The Board agreed to pay Mr. O’Diigcopact Claims, LLC a contingent fee of 15%
of any insurance award.

7. In late April 2014, Mr. Richardson notifiédmerican Family of Copper Oaks’ loss.
American Family promptly inspected the prdyeand estimated the damage to be $620,979 at
replacement cost value (“RCV”). In July 2014, American Family issued a check to Copper Oaks
in the amount of $497,765.43, which reflected Actbash Value (“ACV”) of the loss — the
RCV less depreciation and deductible.

8. Later that year, Mr. O'Driscoll opinedat the Copper Oak’s loss was substantially
more than American Family had pai$3,599,707.13. Mr. O’Driscoll urged the Board to
supplement its claim. The Board agreed, atained 4 Seasons to provide management support
services during the anticipated repairs for a contingent fee of 2.5% of any insurance award. Mr.
O’Driscoll advised the Board that this feeutd be built into theiltimate claim award.

9. When advised of Mr. O’Driscoll’'s &nate of Copper Oak’s loss, American Family
retained Madsen, Kneppers & Associates (“MKaJ)appraise the loss. The firm inspected the
property and issued a report esiting the total RCV loss at $608,398.49.

10. The parties were unable to resolveghsaments as to the aomt of the loss, and

this action was filed on July 25, 2014.



Requirements for the Appraisal Process
11. The Policy sets out the appraisal procesg tesed in the event that the parties cannot
agree on the amount of a loss.

If we and you disagree on the value ad tiroperty or the amounf loss, either
may make written demand for an appraisal of the lasshis event, each party
will select a competent and impartial appraiser. The two appraisers will
select an umpire If they cannot agree, either yn@equest that selection be made
by a judge of a court having jurisdictioithe appraisers will state separately

the value of the property and amount ofoss. If they fail to agree, they will
submit their differences to the umpire. A decision agreed to by any two will
be binding.

(Emphasis added.) The Policy containgdeéinition of “competent” or “impartial.”

12. In January 2015, Magistratedge Watanabe grantettQ) Copper Oaks’ Motion for
Order Enforcing Appraisal Undé¢he Insurance Policy. His ondstates in pertinent part:

[T]he court finds that Judge Babcock’s reasoninguto-Owners Ins. Co. v.

Summit Park Townhome AssP015 WL 1740818 (D. Colo. April 14, 20%5)

should be followed in the case. The necpresented in the moving papers and

the language used in the applicabléqyoprovisions as cited by the parties

support this court’s analysikat this court should struct the appraisers to

determine the “amount of the loss” causgdhail or wind as required under the

applicable policy provisions. By doing sbe appraisers will necessarily exclude

loss or damage caused solely byaase other than hail or wind.

13. Copper Oaks selected George Keystamdompany, Keys Claims Consultants, Inc.
(“KCC”) to act as its appraiserAmerican Family selected JasR. Whipple. Mr. Whipple and
Mr. Keys then selected Mr. Norton as the umpikér. Keys proposed that the parties abide by

the terms of DORA Bulletin B-5.26, published the Colorado Department of Regulatory

% In Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Summit Park Townhome AB®n14-cv-03417-LTB,
2015 WL 1740818 (D. Colo. April 14, 2015), the terof the insurance policy were identical
to those in this matter. The order referenpeaided that the appsal award should include
the cost of removing undamaged property toee matching and other disputed costs with
sufficient detail to enable the Court to inde or exclude them once a determination of
coverage was made.



Affairs, Division of Insurance (he DORA Bulletin”). All partis agreed that the standards set
forth in the DORA Bulletin would govertheir conduct during the appraisal.

14. Pertinent to thisase, the DORA Bulletin requiresatithe appraisent® be “fair
and competent.” The DORA Bulletin prohibits @ppraiser from having a financial interest in
the outcome of the appraisal, and imposes erafipraiser a continuing duty to disclose any
facts, known or learned after accepting appointiaat a reasonable person would consider
likely to affect the appraiseriaterest in the amounts determinggthe appraisal process. The
DORA Bulletin also requires that ampire be “fair, competentd impartial.” To this end, the
Bulletin requires the umpire to “remain nelitt@nd prohibits the umpire from having “any
communication with an appraiser” withoutrpeipation by both pdies and/or their
representatives.

Keys’ Fee Arrangement with Copper Oaks

15. At the April 2015 Board meeting, Mr. @riscoll introduced and endorsed Mr. Keys
and KCC (collectively, “Keys®). Keys’ presentation and literatuespoused views favorable to
insurance policyholders anduted success based upon Mr. Kgyfor experience as an
insurance adjuster, which gave Hithe edge” in getting the highesliaim awards for his clients.
He advertised that he treateid clients “like he was dealingith his momma.” Mr. Keys and

Mr. O'Driscoll also recommended that the Boardirethe law firm of Becker & Poliakoff, P.A,

3 Although there may be a legal distinctiorivibeen Mr. Keys and KCC, the parties refer
to them interchangeably throughout the evidentiacprd, and there is revidence that suggests
any formal observance of a legal distinction ketwthem. The Court will therefore refer to
them collectively as Keys.



in which Christopher Mammel, Copp@aks’ current counsel, was a principalltimately, the
Board adopted both recommendations.

16. Atthe June 2015 Board meeting, Mr. O’Driscoll explained Keys’ Appraisal and
Consultant Agreement (Ex. 13). The agreemenired Copper Oaks to pay a fee calculated at
“$350.00 per hour plus expenses, not to exd@8d of the total of the insurance funds
received.” It contained no terms specifyinbat services would be provided, who would
perform the services, or any hourly rate ottn $350. There was no provision for periodic
billing or review of charges ourred. Indeed, only paragrapladdressed payment, specifying
that KCC would be “paid as a jdgipayee by the insurance company.”

17. There is no signed copy of the Apprbssal Consultant Agreement in the trial
record, but Board minutes from June 8, 2015 refte@pproval and theetention of both Keys
and Becker & Poliakoff (Ex. 8).

18. In the ensuing months, several juglicpinions in unrelated cases involving the
same Policy language i) found that Mr. Keys wastsufficiently “impartid” ii) disqualified him
as an appraiser, and iii) vaedtappraisal awards wherelieed been an appraiser. One
specifically cited to the percentafge cap in Keys’ fee agreements as evidence of bias. In light
of this particular decision, Keys sought toegotiate his Appraisahd Consultant Agreement
with Copper Oaks. The Board’'s September 20&®ting minutes describe a seventy minute
executive session in which the Board discus$adendment” of the Appraisal and Consultant
Agreement with an attorney from Becker & Pkb#. The minutes reflddhat ‘upon returning”

from the executive session, the Board apprarethmended engagement contract.” The

* It does not appear that M®'Driscoll disclosed to the Board that he had a referral
arrangement with Mr. Keys, nor that Mr. Manel and Mr. Keys had a long-standing business
and personal relationship.



“amended agreement” (Ex. 15) made two imporsattistantive changes to the original Appraisal
and Consultant Agreement:

. The preamble contains an acknovwdedgnt by Copper Oaks that it had “no
preexisting financial relationship withCC, and to its knowledge, KCC is not
affiliated with any party to the appraisal.The representation that the parties
had had no preexisting relationship vpasently false in light of the
Appraisal and Consultant Agreement thais ostensibly being amended. As
to the representation that Coppek®&new nothing about any of KCC'’s
affiliations, it is clear that Copper ®aknew that Mr. Keys and KCC were
affiliated, but the Court understands that this disclaimed any knowledge by
Copper Oaks about the personal andriass connections between Keys, Mr.
O’Driscoll, Mr. Mammel and Becker & Poliakoff.

. The fee cap of 10% of tinsurance funds received is
eliminated. In all other respis¢ the “amended agreement” is
functionally the same as therker Appraisal and Consultant
Agreement. For example, the amended agreement is devoid of
terms common to hourly feerangements: specification of
who would perform what senas at what hourly rate, a
provision for submission of pedlic statements, provisions for
interim payment by Copper Oaksic.

19. Keys submitted no bill to Copperl@auntil August 15, 2016, one week after the
Appraisal Award of $2,873,085.35 was announced 8). The single bill reflects 666.40
hours of work, all charged at a rate of $350paur, for a totalde of $233,240. There is no
differentiation in hourly rates based on tasks otheyperson performing the task — for example,
clerical time spent making travel arrangementsMndleys’ presentation dfis appraisal to the
umpire are both billed at $350 per hourccArding to Mr. Keys’ testimony, his staff was
supposed to record all time spent on the projecthéwcknowledged that itieer he nor his staff
focused on hourly charges in formulating the single invoice submitted to Copper Oaks. For

example, Mr. Keys testified at the hearthgt he personally vgaon site “many, many

occasions” in early 2016, yet the invoice Keys submitted to Cooper Oaks bills only three hours

> All quotations of witnesgestimony from the hearing are drawn from the Court’s
recollection and notes, as wall an unofficial transcript.

9



of Mr. Keys'’ time all in a single site visit. €hnvoice further reflects that Mr. Keys spent only
7.25 hours in total in preparation of the appraisal, four of which were devoted to emails,
communications with the appraisal panel, arfgro-rated” conversain with counsel. Mr.

Keys testified that he did not keep trackhed time at all. When asked about billing
discrepancies that indicatecattKeys may have significantiynder-billed Copper Oaks based on
hours spent, Mr. Keys wddasé Neither he nor his staff attgted to reconcile time records
with their recollections or testimony.

20. Curiously, even though the “amendeceagrent” eliminated any reference to the
original fee cap of 10% of ¢hinsurance award, Keys’ fee of $233,240 fee ultimately charged
was almost precisely that amoun®-8% of the final valuation othe claim by the appraisal
panel (that is, the appraisal addess the sum previously alregolyid by American Family).

21. The Court pauses at this stage to ntaktain findings about Copper Oaks’ financial
relationship with Keys. Although ¢hinitial fee agreement called figeys to bill its services by
the hour, subject to a “cap” that ensured thap@er Oaks would never be obligated to keys for
more than 10% of the appraisabard, the Court finds that, reality, the parties understood and
acted as though the “cap” was simply a promise that Keys would be paid 10% of the appraisal
award, similar to O’Driscoll and 4 Seasons’ continders. In other words, the Court finds that
Copper Oaks never intended to pay Keys on an hourly basis.

Several facts support this conclusionopper Oaks’ severely underfinanced reserve
account made it impossible for it to pay morant$200,000 to Keys for services rendered unless
and until a large appraisal award occurred. The absence of traditional indicia of an hourly rate

agreement, Keys’ billing of clerical time at iafed rates, and Keys’ own lackadaisical reaction

10



to questions at trial about his lax timekeepirgpauggest to the Court that Keys’ “hourly”
billings were simply a facade intended to ceaovhat was, in reaif a standard contingérfee.
Similarly, the parties’ purpted agreement to modify thed arrangement to remove the
“10% cap” was a transparent attempt to creadllirsion that the parties were attempting to
reform their fee agreement in light of a recentgialiopinion that declared contingent fees paid
to appraisers tqer se require vacatur of appraisal awardshe Court finds that, in reality, the
parties intended to adhere to the existing agreementhat Keys would receive 10% of the
appraisal award as payment. The fact that Keys eventually submitted an error-riddled,
sometimes inflated invoice that just happenednmunt to 9.8% of the value of the appraisal
award was no coincidence. Thus, the Couaddithat both Copper Oaks and Keys always
understood and intended that Keys’ payment forisgras appraiser would be a flat 10% of the

final appraisal award.

® The phrase “contingent fee” has severahmings, and the Court endeavors to unpack
them somewhat. In its literaknse, the phrase has a conditional meaning — that payment of the
fee is “contingent” upon some spkcievent (such as a verdict faade to the person receiving
the services) occurring. Ifdhevent does not occur, no fsecharged. Copper Oaks’ fee
arrangement with Keys was not “contingentthins sense, in thdt appears that everyone
understood that the appraigabcess would result someaward to Copper Oaks, and that Mr.
Keys would receiveomepayment from Copper Oaks.

There is also a temporal component assediatith the notion o& “contingent fee.”
Typically, such a fee arrangement defers th@pa obligation to pay the fee until a certain
event, such as entry of a judgment or payintieereupon. Copper Oaks’ arrangement with Keys
was a “contingent fee” in this sense, as Keyeag that payment for services would not be due
until a final appraisal award was renderead(gresumably, paid by American Family).

Finally, common use of the term “contingent feéen refers to fees in which the service
provider is given a financial stakn the success of the endeawurch as when an attorney
agrees to accept one-third of gonggment as payment, ratheathcharging hourly or fixed fees
for services. Although the strict terms@bpper Oaks’ agreement with Keys was not
“contingent” in this sense — Keys agreed to dillan hourly basis, subject to a cap — for the
reasons set forth herein, the Court finds that, in practice, both Copper Oaks and Keys understood
and agreed that Keys would be paid no moaa tt0% of the final appraisal award. Thus, the
Court finds that the parties’ fee arrangemens te@ntingent” in this sense as well.

11



It was therefore essential that the apgabaward be high enougih allow Copper Oaks
to pay the bills of Keys, O’'Driscoll, and 4 Seasgplus be sufficient to allow Copper Oaks to
repair the buildings. Indeed, under Ke@8Driscoll, and 4 Seasons’ contingent fee
arrangements, Copper Oaks was required to obtaappraisal award okarly 128% of actual
repair costs, simply to break even.

DORA Compliance by Mr. Keys

22. As noted earlier, Mr. Wpple, Mr. Keys and Mr. Nortdragreed to comply with the
impartiality and neutrality requirements and need disclosures set forth in the DORA Bulletin.

23. In conformance with the DORA Bulletin, Mfeys made his initial disclosures to via
email on March 18, 2016. He stated in conclusory fashion that: (1) he was not a party to the
Policy; (2) he did not have a financial interesthia outcome of the appraisal; (3) he was billing
for his time on an hourly basis; (4) he was adamily member of the insured and had no
relationship with any member of Copper Gadusd (5) he had a conuing obligation to
supplement his disclosures upon learning new, ratefeats. He also attached a copy of the
DORA Bulletin B-5.26, as well as his resume.

24. In additional emails on March 31, 2008, Keys supplemented his disclosures by
stating that he had a minoritytémest in a claims consulting bosss in New Zealand, and that
one of the partners in that venture was &oraey who was employed by the law firm for which
Copper Oaks’ counsel previously was a member. Kdys iterated again that he was being paid

by the hour and that he had no instri@ the outcome of the apprdis#le also disclosed that he

" While there is no dire@vidence that Mr. Norton expssly agreed to be bound by the
DORA Bulletin with respect to the Copper OaRatter, there is documentary and testimonial
evidence that he was aware of the apprdisgreement to abide by the terms of the DORA
Bulletin and at the very least did ratject to complying with it himself.

12



had served as an expert for Copper Oakstadtpin other cases. He made no further
disclosures.
25. At no time did Mr. Keys disclose:

. The existence or terms (inchglthe 10% fee cap) of the initial
Appraisal and Consulting Agreemeat,that his agreement with
Copper Oaks was an amendment agreement that eliminated the fee
cap.

. The existence or contents of tdecisions issueduring the appraisal
process in which courts disquad Mr. Keys and vacated the
appraisal award upon findings of his lamkimpartiality and failure to
disclose pertinent facts.

-AXIS Surplus Insurance Co. v. City Center West LP
2015CV30453 (Weld County Bi. Ct. Mar. 14, 2016)
(# 80-70)

- Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Summit Park Townhome
Ass’n No. 14-cv-03417-LTB, 2016 WL 1321507, at
*3-4 (D. Colo. Apr. 5, 2016)
- Church Mutual Ins. Co. v. Broadmoor Cmty. Chyrch
No. 2015CV32454 (Colo. Dist. Ct. El Paso County July
6, 201§ (# 80-71)
. That Mr. Keys had a long-standingspeal and professioheelationship with
Mr. Mammel, who was a principal in thewfirm retained by the Board at the
recommendation of Mr. Keys and Mr. O’'Driscoll.
. That Mr. Keys had a long-standinigmel relationship with Mr. O’Driscoll.
DORA Compliance by Mr. Norton
26. On March 21, 2016, Mr. Norton disclogbdt he did not have any current or
previous relationship with any tfie interested parties to the agipal, and that he had worked
as an umpire on matters involving Mr. Whippled/or Mr. Keys on a small number (five or
fewer) of other appraisal proceedings. He stitatihe was aware ofdfcontinuing obligation to

disclose any new facts learned after appointrtieatta reasonable persmould consider likely

to affect his impartiality buno further disclosures were made.
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27. Mr. Norton was aware of the opinion issueAuto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Summit Park
Townhome Ass;No. 14-cv-03417-LTB, 2016 WL 1321507 (D. Colo. Apr. 5, 2016), that
invalidated his award and disqued Mr. Keys, as well as thmibsequent opinion that imposed
sanctions.Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Summit Park Townhome A388 F. Supp. 3d 1239, 1246-
48 (D. Colo. 2016). In addition, during the appraisal process, he hedpartediscussion
about theSummit Parkuling with Mr. Keys. He knew thdéir. Keys made no disclosure to Mr.
Whipple and American Family abo8ummit Parlor the information that thBummit Park
court found that Keys should havéut failed to — disclose. MNorton never disclosed: 1) his
conversation with Mr. Keys; 2) the existencels decision; or 3) the information that the
decision found that Mr. Keyshould have disclosed.

The Appraisal Process

28. Mr. Keys began work on his appraisal for Copper Oaks in January 2016 and
submitted his appraisal on February 29, 2016. Kéys found that every roof, every elevation,
every chimney, and virtually all of the siding every building at the Copper Oaks’ property had
either been damaged by hail or, if undamaged, woenlertheless have to beplaced in order to
fully repair the hail damage. His initimss estimate was $4,968,115.62, which was revised
upwards to $5,066,238.99. This was more teartimes the estimate by Mr. Whipple
($406,234.29), almost eight times the amount edBchby Madsen, Kneppers & Associates
($608,393.49), and almost 50% greater than the atiby the public adjust, Mr. O'Driscoll
($3,599,707.135.

29. Mr. Keys and Mr. Whipple each subnttan appraisal to Mr. Norton, and the

® This difference potentially had a direéfeet on the fees that were recoverable by Mr.
Keys and Mr.O’Driscoll. With a 10% caplr. Keys could receive upwards of $450,000 ($5
million less the amount paid by American Family)jth his 15% fee, Mr. O'Driscoll would
recover approximately $675,000.

14



three began extensive discussiansl inspection of thproperty. The fundamental dispute was
whether there was any hail damage caused by dh® sind, if so, what size of hail impacted the
property. There was no contemporaneous ecel¢mat hail had impacted any part of the
property — no statements of occupants, photakeolike. Furthermordhere were conflicting
assumptions in the two appraisaémcerning the size of hail thiaad fallen at the Copper Oaks
site. According to té volunteer collection station datgied upon by Mr. Whipple, collection
stations in relative close proxity to the property (1.8 miles dess) recorded hail ranging from

a quarter inch to a half in@n the date in question. Based on this, when Mr. Whipple conducted
testing to determine the damage caused by mjegdiles fired at brick surfaces, he assumed a
maximum hail size of one inch and concluded far dfathat size or less, no damage could have
been caused to the brick elevations at Cogaks. According to the NOAA data relied upon by
Mr. Keys, hail of up to 1.75 inches in sizesmabserved, though this large hail occurred
significantly farther — approximately 3.5 miles — from the Copper Oaks site. Mr. Key’s
appraisal relied on a report prepared by SBSthatbehest of Mr. O’Dscoll and Impact Claim
Services, LLC in assuming widespread hail damage.

30. Mr. Norton hired a consultant, Carl Marbf Engineering Pspectives Inc., to
evaluate whether hail had impacted Copper OaKs ifso, whether it caused damage to all of
the brick and wall surfaces in the complex. Mr.rfes conclusions werthat some softer brick
might have been damaged, but that the extetiteoflamage was a function of how much soft
brick there was. (Ex. 219.) In addition, he olkiedrthat some bricks displayed chip damage,
but that “the repair method to address any chipped brick, regaodlessse of chipping...
would typically be surface sealapplication,” rather than wholesale replacement of all chimneys

and brick walls. (Ex. 218.)
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31. Ultimately, Mr. Norton concluded that tedrad been some hail damage, but not to
the extent claimed by Mr. Keys. In J@@16, Mr. Norton proposed an appraisal award of
$3,061,201.44. Neither Mr. Keys nor Mr. Whipplgreed with the proposed amount. Mr.
Norton eventually advised Mr. Keys and Mr. \fpie that if they could not come to some
agreement, he would circulate a proposed final award.

32. Mr. Norton’s second proposal $i2,943,919.72 was conveyed by an August 4, 2016
email. It stated that if not signed, Mr. Nortoowld be put “in a position that | do not wish to be
that may require a very significant shift upwatdgx. 133.) Mr. Whipple understood this to be
a threat directed at American Family — in @sge “agree or the amount goes up.” Mr. Whipple
strongly objected to the “sigintant shift upwards” languagapting that there should be no
reason that the proposed final award necdgsaould be adjusted upward, and further
criticizing “the one-sidedegotiation tactics being employedan attempt to strong-arm this
appraisal to a higher awardNMr. Norton testified that he dinot intend to convey a threat,
because such a threat would be “arbjtrand inappropriate and unprofessional and
unacceptable.”

33. The Court finds that Mr. Norton’s einaarning that if the second proposed award
was not signed then there might be “a very ificant shift upwards” was an unambiguous threat
to American Family designed to compel Mr. \pihlie’s signature. Contrary to the explanation
by Mr. Norton, the risk it injected was not neitout one-sided. In addition, it was important
that Mr. Whipple agree to accepethroposal to insulate it from future challenge. Only three
days prior, the insured represahtsy Mr. Keys was sanctioned Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v.

Summit Park Townhome Ass1I98 F. Supp. 3d at 1246-48, for his failure to disclose pertinent
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information including the existence of an arded fee agreement like the “amended agreement”
used with Copper Oaks.

34. The next day, Mr. Norton circulatadroposed final award of $3,073.238.51 which
reflected an increase of approximately $130,8066ve that proposed the day before, and two
million dollars, or 40%, less than that calculabgdKeys. Mr. Keys agreed to sign the award.
With Mr. Norton’s and Mr. Keys’ signatures glaward became final, and on September 9, 2016,
American Family tendered payment of the fiappraisal award amountskprevious payments,
under a reservation of rights.

IV. LEGAL STANDARDS

There have been many hail damage insuralaiss in Colorado over the past years, and
there is a growing number afdicial decisions addressing théa®of appraisers and umpires
under insurance policies like the acsteissue in this case.

Turning first to establishing the standatlat govern the condtof appraisers (who
must be “impartial” under the Policy languaged umpires (for whom the Policy provides no
standards), courts have struggleith the question of whetheppraisers and umpires must be
“neutrals,” in the sense that arbitrators or sglanasters might be, or whether some degree of
bias is permitted. For example,Sammit ParkandAXIS courts relied on an earlier version of
the DORA Bulletin, which adopted a standaragppraiser impartiality based upon the neutral

arbitrator standards oféhColorado Uniform Arbitration Act (C.R.S. § 13-22-233)However,

% See alsColo. Hospitality Servs. Inc. v. Owners Ins. @¢o. 14-CV-001859-RBJ, 2015
WL 4245821, at *2-3 (D. Colo. July 14, 2015) (appreisgartiality required that the appraiser
be neutral as an arbitrator would be under @@orado Uniform Arbitrabn Act. Because the
appraiser’s compensation arrangement includee &dp of 5% of the award, the appraiser was
not neutral, and thus the ap@@i was disqualified and the apjsal award invalidated). In
Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Summit Park Townhome Abkin14-cv-03417-LTB, 2016 WL
1321507, at *3-4 (D. Colo. Apr. 5, 201&¥f'd 886 F.3d 852 (10th Cir. 2018), advocacy on
behalf of public adjusters andsureds as well as non-disclosures required disqualification of the
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in Owners Ins. Co. v. Dakota $itan [| Condominium Ass’n, Incs;- P.3d ----, 2017 WL

3184568 (Colo. App. Jul. 27, 2017), the Colorado €CotiAppeals considered the nature and
function of the appraisal process to give the tdmpartial” meaning. It adopted the definition
of “impartial” used by tk lowa Supreme Court f@entral Life Ins. Co. v. Aetna Casualty &
Surety Cq.466 N.W.2d 257, 261 (lowa 1991). The nmajodefined the policy standard,
“impartial appraiser,” in a funanal fashion — that the appraiser is not impartial in the same
sense as a “judge, umpire or ardtior,” but instead, has a dutyore like an expert witness at
trial. As the Colorado Court of Appeals held: “We understand this to mean that an impartial
appraiser in rendering his or heluation opinion agpes appraisal principles with fairness,
good faith, and lack of bias.Dakota Station 112017 WL 3184568, at *2.

The second area where courts diverge is in titmtion of standard that must be satisfied
in order to disqualify an apgpiser/umpire and invalidate apmaisal award. Two different
approaches have emerged, which this Codttdescribe as the “federal” and “state”
approaches. Some decisions, including all oféhissuing from the federal court in the District
of Colorado (hence, the “federal” approach), hawaliad a categorical rulelf the appraiser has
a duty to be “impartial” and is nahen he or she is disqualifiedthout any showing of an effect
of the lack of impartiality on the appraisal prages award. Under this approach, a harm or loss
is presumed simply by virtue of the appraiser’simpire’s failure to meet the standard required
in the policy. Summit Park2016 WL 1321507, at *3-4olo. Hospitality Servs2015 WL

4245821, at *2-3see alsdChurch Mut. Ins. Co. v. Coutd7-cv-00209-RM-NJW, 2017 WL

appraiser. This approach has been implenddmyesome Colorado state trial courts as wgke
AXIS Surplus Ins. Co. v. City Center, WP, No. 2015CV30453 (Weld Cty. Dist. Ct. Mar. 14,
2016);Church Mut. Ins. Cov. Broadmoor Cmty. Chuhg No. 2015CV32454 (El Paso Cty. Dist.
Ct. July 6, 2016).
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4029589, at *5-8 (D. Colo. Sep. 13, 2017) (recomadngg vacatur due to contingency fee);
Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Summit Park Townhome A88% F.3d 852, 856-57 (10th Cir. 2018)
(holding that thesummit Parldistrict court “reasonably” aecluded that the appraiser was
impartial).

The “state” approach (which the Court derives fiDakota Station lleven though there
are many state trial court decisions that empley‘tederal,” categorical approach) requires two
showings in order to disqualify appraiser or umpire and tovialidate an arbitration award.
First, there must be a showing that theraiser did not meet the policy requiremermst,(the
appraisewas required to be impartial and was not). Second, there must be a showing that such
failure to satisfy the policy requimngent actually affected the appal process or award — that is,
that the lack of impartiality resulted in a a@igton of the process or a flawed award. This
approach is endorsed by the majority wgtifor the Colorado Court of Appealsirakota

10
I:

Station 117 Consistent with this functional defiroi, the state approach requires a showhiagy

10 Dakota Station lis a decision of Colorado’s inteediate appellate court on an

unsettled issue of Colorado law, and as suah,dhtitled to persuasive, but not controlling,
weight. Clark v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. C819 F.3d 1234, 1240 (10th Cir. 2008)ay v.
Travelers Prop. Cas. Co. of An263 Fed. App’x 673, 680 (10th Cir. 2008). It is currently on
review oncertiorari by the Colorado Supreme Cowith regard to two issues.

(1) Whether the court of appeals’ rule permitting insurance appraisers to
“favor one side more than the otheridhact as “advocates” fthe selecting party
conflicts directly with [the Colado Supreme Court’s] holding Rrovidence
Washington Ins. Co. v. Gulinstimat such “[appraisersenot [arbitration] referees,
but their duty of impartiality ishe same.” 215 P. 154,155 (Colo. 1923).

(2) Whether the court of appeals’ rule permitting insurance appraisers to
utilize contingent-cap fee agreements tiethe appraiser's compensation to the
ultimate appraisal award conflicts directly with the holding fif@ravidence
Washington Ins. Co. v. Gulinsol5 P. 154,155 (Colo. 1923)atisuch appraisers
must be impartial in the s® manner as an arbitrator.
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the lack of impartiality affected a particular action, decision or analytical choice made by the
appraiser.

This Court need not weigh in on either of thgeestions in this caseAs to the issue of
whether an “impartial” appraiser mitbe neutral or may favor os&le, the parties’ agreement to
be bound by the DORA Bulletin suffices to resadllve matter. The DORA Bulletin specifically
requires party-appointed appraistyde “fair and competent,” vigh it further defines to mean
that the appraiser i) is not a party to the insaoeacontract, ii) has norfancial interest in the
outcome of the appraisal, iii) /ot a current employee of thesurer or policyholder; and iv) is
not a family member or an individual with wim the insured has a personal relationship that
could reasonably suggest bias. The Courtapply that standard as the one chosen by both
parties here. As to the question of whether‘sate” or “federal” approach applies, the Court
need not attempt to resolve that issue either.tl®reasons set forth belpthe Court finds that
the appraisal award here mustde¢ aside under both standards.

V. ANALYSIS

The Court begins with the Policy’s terms, wikie goal of giving effect to the parties’
intent. Ad Two, Inc. v. City & Cty. of Denved P.3d 373, 376 (Colo. 2000).

A. Whether Mr. Keys and Mr. Norton were “impartial”

The Policy describes an appraisal psscehich requires each party to select a
“competent and impartial appraisehut it offers no definition for the terms “competent” or

“impartial.” However, the paigs have expressed their intérib adoption of the provisions of

1 As agents for Copper Oaks and Amaridcamily, Mr. Keys proposed and Mr.
Whipple agreed to be bound by the DORA Bullgtinvisions. Since then, Copper Oaks has
expressly argued for application of such provisions. Although it ace®éat a more general
definition of impartiality, American Family Isanever repudiated Mr. Whipple’'s agreement to
those terms.
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the DORA Bulletin. The DORA Bulletin requires treat appraiser be “fair and competent” and
an umpire to be “fair, competent and impartidt then sets out a number of requirements for
each. As is pertinent to this matter, an agamais prohibited from héng a “direct material
interest in the amounts deterradhby the appraisal procesDORA Bulletin B-5.26(A)(1). In
addition, an appraiser has a continuing oblayato disclose “facts that a reasonable person
would consider likely to affeche appraisers’ interest the amounts determined by the appraisal
process.”ld. at (A)(2), (3). The Bulletin does not dedi what a “direct material interest” is, but
as an example, it refers to a contingency paynarrangement. The required disclosures must
be made to all parties. The Bulletin does notréeWwho the parties are, huts fair to assume
that they include the parties to the contfaetrre, Copper Oaks and American Family), the
appraisers (Mr. Keys and Mr. Wiple), and the umpire (Mr. Na). With regard to umpires,
the pertinent provisions of the D@RBulletin require that an umpinemain neutral and that the
umpire not have any communication with gpaiser without particgtion by both parties.
DORA Bulletin (B)(1), (B)(4).

With these standards in mind, the Court suimthe questions of whether Mr. Keys was
“fair and competent” and whether Mr. Non was “fair, competent and impartial.”

1. Mr. Keys

The Court finds that Mr. Keys was not ‘ffaind competent” because he had a “direct
material interest in the amowndetermined by the appraisal process” and because he did not
disclose “facts that a reasonapkrson would consider likely to afft the appraisers interest in

the amounts determined by the appraisal process.”
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a. Financialinterest

The Court begins with Mr. Key’s imtest in the amounts determined by the appraisal
process. By its nature, the policy’s apprigmacess pits two competing appraisals, one high
and one low, against each otheith their differences to beeconciled by the umpire.
Presumably, Mr. Key’s appraisal set the ceiliogthe appraisal award (that is, the maximum
possible award the umpire could give) and Whipple's set the floor (the minimum possible
award). If an appraiser’s fee is determinedhi®/amount of the award,ig in the appraiser’s
self-interest to inflate the apgsal amount the largest ext@assible. As the DORA Bulletin
recognizes, an appraiser working under a continfgenarrangement is a classic example of a
person with a material financimdterest in the outcome.

As discussed above, the Court finds thagKagreement with Copper Oaks tied Keys’
fee directly to the appraisal award. The firgeggnent provided that tliee would be calculated
on an hourly basis, subject to a cap of 10% ofrieerance funds receivedEvery court that has
considered a percentage fee capragement of this type — excdpaikota Station I+ has found
it impermissible. As Judge R. Brooke Jackson explain€bliarado Hospitality Servs. Inc. v.
Owners Ins. Co.No. 14-CV-001859-RBJ, 2015 WL 4245821 @olo. July 14, 2015):

Mr. Lodge’s fee was capped ‘&% of the replacememiost value of the final

claims if an umpire is involved.” Thuthe higher his appraisal, the higher the

cap on his fee. If, for example, the @@ment value of the loss were determined

by the appraisal process to be $50,000,Lodge's fee would be capped at

$2,500. But if the replacement valuetioé loss were set at $1,000,000, his fee

would be capped at $50,000. An expéelnbse fee might be materially affected

by the opinion he expresses cannotdesaered to be “impartial” under any

reasonable definition of that term.
Id. at *2.

Copper Oaks urges the Court to apply teasoning of thsole outlier decisiorDakota

Station Il which found that an appraiser’s percentigecap did not necessarily create an
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impermissible interest in the appraisal awdbékota Station s conclusion, however, is based
on different facts. Ther¢he appraiser’s contract includla fee cap of “5% of the total
replacement cost value,” but tbeurt found that the parties had matialed, and thus not agreed
to, that particular provision @he contract. Moreover, the ultimate fee charged by the appraiser
in Dakota Station Iwas substantially less than the 5%,csuggesting that the cap provision was
not the primary driver of the fees charged by the apprai3akota Station 112017 WL
3184568, at *7-8.

Here, it is clear thahe 10% fee cap was anportant — indeed, dical — component of
the fee agreement to both Copper Oaks and Keys. As to Copper Oaks, it was essential that Keys
deliver an appraisal award that significantly eedsd the actual cost of repair, as Copper Oaks
otherwise lacked the resourcesptry for Keys and O’Driscoll’s seices out of its own funds.
Giving Keys a direct stake in the award thusegEeys an incentive to deliver the highest
possible appraisal figure (or evan impossibly high figure, giveCopper Oaks’ need to recover
more than 125% of its loss in order t@aék even). This is not a situation liRakota Station ||
where the existence of a contingent fee awaddntmaapparent bearing on the appraisal award.
Here, it is clear that Keys billezkrvices to account for the fainount of the contingent fee.

After Judge Jackson issued thelorado Hospitalitydecision, it was clear that the
contingent fee agreement would have fatal eqnences on Keys’ abjijito serve as Copper
Oaks’ appraiser. Copper Oaks and Keys dsatishe issue in September 2015, entering into an
“amended agreement” that eliminated the fge o&s noted above, the Court finds that the
purported abrogation of the fee cap was merely etisyrand that both sides fully intended that
Keys would still be paid 10% of the final@aisal award for its services. Moreover, the

amended agreement recited a patently-false staertnat there was no previous fee agreement.
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The falsehood was important so as to furtherlaieuhe parties from the possibility that the
Colorado Hospitalitydecision would be construed to require Keys’ disqualification based on the
original fee agreement.

For the reasons set forth above, the Court fthdsKeys’ initialfee arrangement with
Copper Oaks was never substantively amendée. parties understood and agreed that Keys’
fee would be fixed at 10% of the final apprasaard, with “hourly” billing being irrelevant.

The percentage cap gave Keys a material istenehe appraisal award preventing him from
being “fair and competent” iaccordance with the DORA Bulie, and therefore “impartial”
under the Policy.

b. Disclosures

The Court also finds that Mr. Keys failléo make disclosures required by the DORA
Bulletin. As previously noted, the DORA Buile imposed a continuing obligation on Mr. Keys
to disclose information that “a reasable person would consider likeo affect [his] interest in
the amounts determined by the appraisal process.”

There is no dispute that Mr. Keys magkmeral disclosures dog March 2016, stating
that: 1) he was not a party to the Policy; 2) lbrait have a financial interest in the outcome of
the appraisal; 3) he was billing for his time on an hourly basis; 4) he was not a family member of
the insured and had no relationship with any member of Copper Oaks; and 5) he had a
continuing obligation to supplement his disclosunpon learning new, relevfacts. Certain
of these disclosures were false or misleading:Ktys was nominally billing by the hour, but in
reality, he and Copper Oaks had agreed upon ngemt fee payment that gave him a direct

financial interest in the outconud the appraisal. He also failed to disclose his referral
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relationship with Mr. O’Driscoll, whose contingefee of 15% was also based on the appraisal
award.

In addition, during the@praisal process, thr@adicial decisions disqualified Mr. Keys
and put him on notice of particularformation that he should leksclosing in cases where he
served as appraiser. Mr. Keys did not ldise the existence tiiose decisions or the
information that the courts iraeh instance said should have bdestlosed. In fairness, these
decisions did not apply the DORA Bulletin standaadiopted here, and fibris reason, the Court
does not find that Mr. Keys automatically hadadtigation to disclose the existence of or
outcome of those judicial decisions. But in edehision, the issuing court identified specific
information that Mr. Keys should have discldseFor example, in March 2016, the Colorado
state District Court for Weld County disqualified Mr. Keys finding that he failed to diskisse
general pro-public adjuster advocacy, his relatignalith the public adjuster, and his extensive
personal and business relationship with Mammel and Mr. Mammel’s law firmAXIS
Surplus Ins. Co. v. City Center W., ,UIRo. 2015CV30453 (Weld Cty. Bi. Ct. Mar. 14, 2016).
The AXIS Surplugourt observed that Mr. Keys “hadkoow that this information would cause
[the insurer] concerns,” and found that himfidisclosure only raisesispicions about his
impartiality and creates the aggrance that he was trying talé? the damaging information.

Nevertheless, even after being chided§S Surplugor concealing these facts, Mr.
Keys never disclosed those facts to American Faarilyir. Whipple. This is significant, as the
DORA Bulletin standard requiring diesures is a fairly broad onesquiring disclosure of “facts
that a reasonable person might believe impditi&they bear on whether Mr. Keys had “a
material interest” in the appraisal awarkguably, Mr. Key’s general pro-public adjuster

advocacy would not fall within DORA requiremsriiecause it does not pertain to whether Mr.
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Keys had a material interest in the Copper Cgkwraisal award. Hower, his relationships
with Mr. O’Driscoll and Mr. Mammel certainly fell within the DORA disclosure requirements
because a reasonable person might believe —dntie®judge in the Weld County District Court
certainly believed — that such relationshipsld suggest Mr. Keys' matal interest in the
award. Mr. O'Driscoll was depelent upon a generous appraesahrd for his 15% contingent
fee, and Mr. Keys both benefitted from Mr. O’'Duadl’s referral of him to Copper Oaks as well
as any future referrals. A reasonable persoyn well could conclude @t these relationships
could motivate Mr. Keys to improperly skew higpaaisal in order to drive the appraisal award
upward. Mr. Keys’ long friendship and professabassociation with MiMammel and his law
firm*?is also a fact that a reasonable personccoohsider important irvaluating Mr. Keys'’
own interest in an appraisal amd. Copper Oaks hired Mr. Mamrigelaw firm at the suggestion
of Mr. O’Driscoll and Mr. Keys, without evatisclosing that Mr. Maamel had a longstanding
professional and personal relationship with Keys. Copper Oaks was entitled to know
whether the firm’s ancillary relatnships created a potential coriflaf interest, especially when
it was subsequently induced by Mr. Keys and Mammel’s firm to amend the fee agreement to
include a false representation. American Family alas entitled to disclosure of the full extent
of Mr. Keys’ personal and professial relationships with Mr. Mamel. These connections bear
upon Mr. Keys’ loyalty to Copper Oaks and conmmént to appropriate rigor in his appraisal
analysis.

A month later, Mr. Keys wadisqualified and the apgisal award rendered by Mr.
Norton was invalidated iAuto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Summit Park Townhome ABBin14-cv-

03417-LTB, 2016 WL 1321507, at *3-4 (D. Colo. Apt.2016). The court found that Mr. Keys

12-Over the course of the many cases in Whitr. Keys’ impartiality has been an issue,
Mr. Mammel or his law firm harepresented the insured.
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again failed to make necess#&ayd court-ordered) disclosur@sgluding a disclosure that Mr.
Keys had modified his fee agreement with treuned there in the same way and at roughly the
same time as he did with Copper Oaks. Jijecock specifically found that Mr. Keys had an
obligation to disclose the amendment to the fee agreement because the original agreement was in
the nature of a contingent fee. The DORA Bulldists a contingent fee as a specific example of
a material interest in an agmsal award. Thus, the Court damd no justification for Mr. Keys’
failure to disclose the existence and contentb@fbriginal Appraisaand Consultant Agreement
to American Family, except to hide facts thakhew could impact his intest in the fee award.
Finally, in July 2016, Mr. Keys was disdifiezd due to his extensive business
relationship with the public adjustand his pro-policyholder views @hurch Mut. Ins. Co. v.
Broadmoor Cmty. Chutg No. 2015CV32454 (El Paso Cty. Di€lt. July 6, 2016). The state
trial court found it particularly tubling that Mr. Keys had antablished relationship with the
public adjuster at issue in the case (having served as an appraiser in fifteen appraisal proceedings
involving that appraiser), thae had a longstanding record of being an outspoken advocate for
policyholders and policyholdénterests, and that he faileddisclose both of these facts to the
insurer or the insurer'sppraiser. The trial coudiso took note of the fact that at that time, Mr.
Keys had recently been disqualifiedtwo separate cases (presumakklS SurplugndSummit
Park); the court analogized Mr. Keys’ failure tesdiose his relationship with counsel in that
case with his failure to disclose his relationshihvhe public adjuster in the case before it. Of
this information, Mr. Keys’ relatiofgp with the public adjster in the instant case fell within the
DORA Bulletin disclosure obligations, yet he did daclose it. Once again, the Court can see

no justification for this silence.
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At the hearing, Mr. Keys offered no expléioa as to why he dinot disclose the
information identified in these opinions. Theuwtt can only assume that he was aware of his
ongoing disclosure obligations towards the partiere, yet he purposely chose not to comply
with them. His failure to disclose informaiti that a reasonable person (indeed, judges in three
separate cases) believed mightimportant in determining whether Mr. Keys had a material
interest in the appraisal award also prevehigdfrom being “competent and fair” under the
DORA Bulletin.

c. Disqualification

The finding that Mr. Keys was not “compatend fair” under the DORA Bulletin and
thus not “impartial” under the Policy is sufieit to disqualify him and to invalidate the
appraisal award under the categal “federal” approachs discussed above. But
disqualification of an appraiser undbe “state” apprach, exemplified bypakota Station ||
also requires a showing of evidence that Mr. Kéys lack of impartiality affected his action,
decision or analytical choices dhg the appraisal. That is, Mr. Keys’ partiality must have
resulted in actions that distodt¢he appraisal process or ledatfundamentally unfair award.

Mr. Keys’ lack of impartiality infected multiple decisions and choices. Beginning with
his fee agreement, in the amended version ofdbatiment he falsely represented that there
was no earlier fee agreement. Although JuddecBek had already addressed an identical
situation inSummit ParkMr. Keys continued the ruse her€he Court finds that this was a
conscious attempt to conceal the existendb@troublesome fee cap provision from American
Family. Then, in discussing the case with Mr. Norton omxapartebasis during the appraisal
process, he continued the deception. Never duhie appraisal process did Mr. Keys disclose

the existence of the original Appraisal and Gotast Agreement with the percentage fee cap.
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This non-disclosure amountedaalistortion of the process sofar as it deprived American
Family of critical information baring on Mr. Keys’ ability to rendea valid award in light of the
Summit Parldecision.

In addition, the Court finds that Mr. Keyzartiality resulted irhim submitting an
inflated appraisal based on assumptions abaildamage for which he had no support. Mr.
Keys’ appraised Copper Oaks’ loss at $5,066,238.8%st150% greater than the estimate by
Copper Oaks’ own public adjuster, Mr. O'Dri¢ic($3,599,707.13). The gap is attributable, in
large part, to Mr. Keys’ belief that every cmey and every wall (brick and siding) of every
building at Copper Oaks had been damaged byhd required replacement. In essence, Mr.
Keys’ appraisal is that the hail storm in gtien caused the maximum possible amount of
exterior damage possible. Notably, the cosicln that all buildingvalls were damaged was
based on the remarkable proposition that thlesk@am in question was able to cause impact
damage from at least two opposing directionsraduthe same weather everather than along a
single storm path.

Mr. Keys’ offered no specific support forishremarkable conclusion. The complete
appraisal report that he submitted to Mr. Nonas never admitted into evidence. Instead, the
record with regard to this assumption is limitedMr. Keys’ cover letter to Mr. Norton dated
February 29, 2016 (Ex. 138), some documents idedhiifigt that were admitted into evidence,
and Mr. Keys’ own testimony. The cover é&tindicates that Mr. Keys consulted two
engineering reports, the Madsen Kneppers &oksate, Inc. report (Ex. 222) and the SBSA
report (Ex. 221), to readhis conclusions about the cause of Copper Oaks’ loss. Both reports
find hail damage to roofs, briclksd walls could be caused by therst, but also note brick and

wall damage in protected areas — such as undahargs and on soffits — that could not possibly
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have been caused by hail impacts. Neitbport concludes that the 2013 storm caused
widespread hail damage to every side of ewhignney and every wall of every building. To the
contrary, the SBSA report addresses only eight of fourteen builditig$rick cladding, and
finds only some of the brick damage attributablérecent events” asompared to aging and
long-past events. The report concludes thatksron the facades at the Copper Oaks site were
damaged as a result or the September 9, 2013tbaih,” but that “it was not within SBSA'’s
scope to estimate the quantity of brick damaged by the aforementioned storm.” The Madsen
Kneppers & Associates report is even moreurispect. It finds that although brick chips were
observed, “[i]t is unreasonable tasase or specify a particular cause of a masonry chip (in this
case hail) when they may and frequemlilyoccur during manufacturing, handling, shipping,
installation and the naturaleathering process.”

This leaves Mr. Keys’ testimony at tridlhe Court finds that Mr. Keys’ testimony was
often evasive, ambiguous, andgely incredible. In respoago many questions by the Court
and counsel, Mr. Keys never described any methodology that he used to determine the scope of
the hail damage. When asked how he deterntimagtchll sides of all buildings were damaged by
the 2013 hail storm, he statdtht an amorphous “we” (by which the Court understands to be Mr.
Keys and his staff) simply looked at all of ttl@mneys and elevations of all of the buildings.
When asked by the Court whether there wereedewyations that did neshow hail damage, he
gave a very limited response based on hisgpeisknowledge: “I am not familiar with any
elevations that did nathow any hail damage, no, ma’am.” &vhasked how he determined that
the hail storm hit all four sides of every singl&lding, he responded, “what | have been able to
learn from the engineers is when stormsiedhrough, hail predominantly comes through one

side and after it passes by, hail also to a le$sgree comes from a different angle.” Never did
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Mr. Keys offer a specific and credible explapnatas to how hail in the 2013 storm could have
damaged every side of every chimney and ewaly of every building inthe complex, including
damage under overhangs and soffits. It appears that Mr. Keys simply assumed that any visible
damage to any brick or wall board on any portidany building was necessarily caused by the
2013 hail storm, regardless of the age of the building or the general condition of the exterior
brick or wall board. Mr. Keys also appears tednaoncluded that even portions of surfaces that
displayed no damage would nevertheless habe teplaced completely, ostensibly because
brick repairs could only be completed on an elevalig-elevation basis. Thconflicts with the
reports that Mr. Keys ostensibly relied uponjeithsuggest that damaged bricks can often be
replaced on a brick-by-brick bagis that replacement is not necessary if the bricks can be
resealed.

In total, the Court finds that Mr. Keyappraisal was so bereft of methodology and
supporting evidence as to be completely implaesiflhis outcome, which the Court finds to
have been a fundamentally unfair appraisal, cast fileely be explained bir. Keys’ partiality
and material interest in infimg the outcome of the appraigabcess. Accordingly, even under
the “state” standard exemplified Byakota Statioril, the Court finds that Mr. Keys’ partiality
had an articulable and demonstrable effedhenappraisal process. Thus, under either the
“federal” or “state” standard$/r. Keys’ partiality requires hidisqualification and the vacatur
of the appraisal award.

2. Mr. Norton
Turning to Mr. Norton’s role as the ymine, the DORA Bulletin not only required Mr.

Norton to make ongoing disclosures of infotima that a reasonable person would think was
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likely to affect his impartiality, buit also precluded him from havirex partecommunications
with parties or their appraisers.

Assuming, without deciding, thadr. Norton’s disclosures regding prior work with Mr.
Keys as party-appointeappraiser were adequate, the Céiads that Mr. Norton violated the
DORA Bulletin standards in two ways. r&l, he engaged in an impermissibleparte
conversation with Mr. Keys durinfpe appraisal process. In hestimony before the Court, Mr.
Norton acknowledged that he was aware ofShmmit Parldecision and that he had discussed
it with Mr. Keys. Although he tried to minimizbat communication, his testimony is quite clear
that such a conversation occurred:

Q. That's my understanding. All right. 8ath respect to this disclosure in

March of 2016, we — you testified a litthit about your knowledge of Judge

Babcock having vacated an awardsummit ParkThat award was vacated a
couple of weeks afterighdisclosure, right?

A. Generally, yes.

Q. Did you ever talk to the appraiser Mr. Keys, about that order by Judge
Babcock?

A. Not in any level of detail.
Q. All right. What level of detail did you go to with Mr. Keys on that order?

A. The —just that the ruling of the Court was made, but really it was not
discussed.

Q. Now, Mr. Keys also made disclass in this case — in this underlying
appraisal; do you recall that?

A. | need you to describe whethgu're talking continuing wittsummit Parlor
back to Copper Oaks.

Q. I'm sorry, thank you for that. I'm talking about in this c&a3epper Oak3
A. Restate the question.

Q. Mr. Keys made disclosures?

32



A. To the panel, yes, sir.

Q. And, in fact, we just looked at onéthe supplementations concerning his
expert work with Mr. Mammel, right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. Did you ever see any supplementation by Mr. Keys concerning the
Summit — concerning theSummit Park vacatur order?

A. He made supplemental disclosures, @of which we looked at. | believe
there was more than one. I'm not certain, but | don't believe there was any
specific statement regardingSummit Park.

(Unofficial 5/24/18 Transcpt (emphasis added).) It is cldesm the record that Mr. Whipple
was not present during this conversation. Sachnversation bears on the issues before the
appraisal panel, and because the B@Rilletin categorically prohibitex parteconversations
among appraisers, Mr. Norton’s conwaisn with Mr. Keys about thEummit Parldecision and
Mr. Keys’ disqualification constitute impropeonduct by Mr. Norton. In addition, Mr. Norton
further violated his disclosumbligation by not revealing to MWhipple or to American Family
that he had had thak parteconversation with Mr. Kgs about the opinion.

Mr. Norton’s subjective assessment of whetheiShmmit Parldecision would affect
his impartiality was irrelevant. His obligatiom disclose turned on velther a reasonable person
might consider such facts likely to affect mgpartiality. Certainly, an umpire cannot be
required to disclose the existence of every esbreuling issued with regard to an appraisal
award. But Mr. Keys recommended that Mr. Norb@nthe umpire in this case, Mr. Keys was
disqualified inSummit Parkor lack of disclosure of a gredeal of information concerning prior
associations and his prior appraisalesgnent, Mr. Norton and Mr. Keys hadexnparte
discussion about tfeummit Parlopinion during this appraisptocess, and Mr. Norton was
aware that Mr. Keys had not digsed any information about tlsimmit Parldecision to

American Family. A reasonable person could vibese facts as suggesting that Mr. Norton had
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a bias in favor of Mr. Keys, or that Mr. Kon wished to help Mr. Keys by concealing
information which might have been of concern to American Family.

Thus, under the DORA Bulletin standards,. Morton was not “fair, competent and
impartial.” Under the categoricdlederal” approach, this alone is sufficient to invalidate the
appraisal award.

If the “state” standard dbakota Station lis applied, invalidation of the award is also
justified. Evidence of Mr. Nortos’subjective bias appears in et to Mr. Whipple, made in
the last stage of appraisal nagbons. It is undisputed thah August 4, 2016, Mr. Norton sent
an email to Mr. Whipple and Mr. Keys stating tiiahey did not agree to the appraisal award he
proposed that it could result ‘fa very significant shift upwards.'Such a shift would necessarily
be to the detriment of American Family (alodhe benefit of Copper Oaks and Mr. Keys
personally), and it is not surping that Mr. Whipple understood the statement to be a threat
directed at him. Mr. Norton subsequently catroeit that threat, issog an increased proposed
award the following day (and seaugithe support of Mr. Keys to make the award final). Even
Mr. Norton concedes that threatening Mr. Whipplend the Court finds that he did — would be
“arbitrary and inappropriate and unprofessiomal anacceptable.” The Court would find that an
umpire’s threat to punish an appraiser whased to agree to a proposed award by further
adjusting that award to thetdenent of the refusing appraise client is a fundamental
abrogation of the umpire’s role as a neutral add®rtion of the appraisarocess. Therefore,
under the state standard, Mr. Nortopastiality requires vadar of the appraisal aavd as well.

B. Copper Oaks’ Affirmative Defenses

Copper Oaks has nominally asserted affirneatiefenses of waiver, estoppel, and laches,

but none of the defenses were developed threuglence or argument. The Court understands
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that they are variations upon Cooper Oaks'rakehing argument that American Family’s
challenge to the appraisal award wasimely and thus should be barred.

Under Colorado law, waiver is the intemtal relinquishment cd known right; it may be
express, as when a party statesntent to abandon an existinght, or implied, as when a party
engages in conduct which manifestsraent to relinquish the right @cts inconsistently with its
assertion.In re Marriage of Robbins8 P.3d 625, 630 (Colo. App. 2000). To constitute an
implied waiver, the conduct must be free frombaguity and clearly manif the intent not to
assert the benefiBurlington N. R.R. Co. v. Stone Container Cp§34 P.2d 902, 905 (Colo.
App. 1997). A waiver thus requires full kntdge of all the relevant factdohnson v. Indus.
Comm’n of State of Colo761 P.2d 1140, 1147 (Colo. 1988).

The essence of Copper Oaks’ argumetttas American Family knew of tHeummit
Park decision before the appraisal process wasptete, and that by proceeding to complete the
appraisal process nonetheless, it waived angctibn to Mr. Keys’ participation. The only
evidence to support this argumevds testimony from an American Family claim manager to the
effect that some employees of American Family became aware of the April 55a@016it Park
decision shortly after it was isasd, and that American Familyddhot seek to postpone or halt
the Copper Oaks appraisal to deagje Mr. Keys’ participation.

Copper Oaks’ showing is inadequate for seve@sons. First, there is no showing what
undisclosed American Family employees knew abouStiramit Parldecision, much less that it
supplied information to American Family whiclowld have allowed it to seek to remove Mr.
Keys or stop the appraisal process. Shaenmit Parldecision was based on application of the
Colorado Uniform Arbitration Act'grinciples, but the parties henad agreed to a different set

of standards — the DORA Bulletin — to govéne appraisal panel’'s conduct. Even more
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importantly, the salient portion of tfsummit Parlopinion concerned the existence of Mr. Keys’
modified fee agreement. Since Mr. Keys hadenalisclosed that he also modified his fee
agreement with Copper Oaks, American Familg ha way to know that of the significance of
the similarity. Finally, imposing a waiver theasy American Family would be unjust where the
Court has found that Mr. Keys and Mr. Norton fdila their obligation talisclose numerous
important facts. The Court might be willingd¢onclude that a fully-informed American Family
consciously waived its ability to abort the appahiprocess by not actirsgoner, but the Court is
not willing to find a waiver by a party who lagd full information. Again, under Colorado law,
waiver is the voluntary relinquisient of a known right. Here, Copper Oaks has not shown that
American Family was fully aware of its rights.

As an alternative theory, Copper Oakgokes the common law dome of equitable
estoppel. It also is unpersuasivo establish equitable estopgbk party asserting the doctrine
must establish that i) thehar party had full knowledge dfie facts, ii) the other party
unreasonably delayed in assertargavailable remedy, and 3etparty asserig the doctrine
relied on the other party's delay to its detrimdttreme Constr. Co. v. RCG Glenwood, |.LC
310 P.3d 246, 252 (Colo. App. 2012) (citiMgnor Vail Condo. Ass’'n v. Town of Vall99
Colo. 62, 64, 604 P.2d 1168, 1170 (1980)). For the same reasons stated above, Mr. Keys and
Mr. Norton’s concealment of infmation they should have disclosed prevents Copper Oaks from
showing the first element, that American Fanid full knowledge of the pertinent facts.

Finally, Copper Oaks argues that Ameri€amily should be barred from relief based on
the equitable theory of laches. Under Colorkxag relief is barred if a party engages in
unconscionable delay in enforcingight that results in prejudice to the one against whom the

claim is assertedHickerson v. Vessel816 P.3d 620, 623 (Colo. 2014) (quotlmyeland
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Camp No. 83 v. Woodmen Bldg. & Benevolent Ad98 Colo. 297, 116 P.2d 195, 199 (1941));
see also Robbins v. Peopl®7 P.3d 384, 388 (Colo. 2005). The eletner laches are: 1) full
knowledge of the facts; 2) unreamble delay in thassertion of available remedy; and 3)
intervening reliance by armatrejudice to another.City of Thornton v. Bijou Irr. C9926 P.2d 1,
73 (Col0.1996) (internal quotations omitted). Once again, Copper Oaks fails to establish the first
element of this defense.

CONCLUSION

The Court finds that, under the standards set forth in the DORA Bulletin, Mr. Keys
engaged in actions that remeéd him not “fair and competent” and Mr. Norton engaged in
actions that rendered him not “facgmpetent and impartial.” €hCourt further finds that both
engaged in conduct that prejudiced the agpigrocess and distodi¢he final award.
Accordingly, American Family’s RenewéViotion to Vacate Appraisal Award GRANTED.

Mr. Keys and Mr. Norton arBISQUALIFIED and the August 8, 2016 Appraisal Award is
VACATED . Judgment will enter in favaf American Family on the first and second claims in
Copper Oaks’ Amended Complaint at the dasion of proceedings in this case.

Pursuant to the reasoning set wuthe Order to Show Caus#8@), determination of the
amount of the loss was a condition precededtnt@rican Family’s obligation to pay in
accordance with the Policy. Because the ttaaaf the appraisal award nullifies any
determination as to amount that existed attitme of filing this action, Copper Oaks had no
standing to bring its third clainspunding in breach of contract for failure to pay. Such claim is

thereforeDISMISSED.
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This leaves only Copper Oaks’ fourth acafor relief, sounding in unreasonable delay,
for determination by trial. The parties shall megreparation of a Propos@udetrial Order as to
this claim and within fourteen (14) days shaihtly contact chambers to schedule a Pretrial
Conference in anticipatioof such a trial.

Dated: July 23, 2018

BY THE COURT:

Drowsce 4. Frceg,

Marcia S. Krieger
ChiefUnited StateDistrict Judge

38



